1963

State of Utah v. Frank Jerry Owens : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

This appeal has been taken by the defendant-appellant to set aside his conviction of the crime of forgery, and the sentence imposed thereon.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Upon information, and after trial by jury, the jury found the defendant guilty of forgery as charged in the information. The court then ordered the defendant-appellant to serve a term in the Utah State Prison for not less than one year nor more than 20 years.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks vacation of the jury verdict and the sentence of the court, remand for new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Kenneth Bramwell is the manager of Bramwell's market located at 212 Washington Boulevard, Ogden, Utah (TR-7). On February 5, 1963, a clerk, Eugene Mahnke, was at the cash register

(TR-3) when a man approached the counter and requested that a money order be cashed (TR-8). Mr. Bramwell was standing nearby stocking the shelves and went to the counter, advising the clerk that he would handle the matter. He asked the person presenting the money order for personal identification, and was handed a drivers license issued in the name of Gerald L. Larson (TR-9). Mr. Bramwell asked where the person lived, and was told Salt Lake City, but that he was staying in Ogden with his aunt, a Mrs. Richards, giving her Ogden address at 323 4th Street (TR-10).

The individual appeared to be about 30 years old, dark complected, weighing 170 pounds, wearing slacks and sport coat (TR-16, 25, 27). He was not wearing glasses. The money order (States Exhibit "A") was then endorsed on the back and cashed. It was later returned by the bank.

Exhibit "A" is the money order which it is claimed was forged, and was identified by Sam Harmon, owner and operator of the Third Avenue Pharmacy in Salt Lake City (TR-47). This money order purports to be signed by Mr. Harmon, and is in the amount of \$90.00, payable to Gerald L. Larson, with remitter, R. A. Larson. Mr. Harmon testified that a series of these printed money orders had been stolen on February 3, 1963, from the pharmacy at Salt Lake City, a fact discovered on February 4, 1963 (TR-48). He identified the serial number on Exhibit "A" as one of those stolen (TR-50), and stated that his signature on Exhibit "A" was not his. He produced a series of processed money orders, Exhibits C-1 through C-10, showing his actual signature. No handwriting expert was called, and the signatures of Harmon on Exhibit "A" and of the C series exhibits appear to be identical.

On direct examination, market manager Bramwell testified that he called Lt. Warner Bruestle

of the Ogden Police Department, who brought to the market two or three days later a series of photographs of criminal suspects he called "Mug" shots (TR-11). Bramwell had examined about eight shots at the market, and claimed he identified the defendant, but admitted that he was confused by the shots because there were two that looked like the defendant, and he stated it did not dawn on him that they were the same person (TR-12). He described many of the individuals in these "Mug" shots (TR-23). When he indicated what appeared to be two individuals, he said the officer advised him that they were the same person (TR-24), and that he was doubtful on his identification until the officer so advised him (TR-25).

At the trial Exhibits B-1 through B-3 were introduced by the State, which purport to be the same "Mug" shots as those above. Mr. Bramwell stated that Exhibit B-2 was the photograph of the defendant (TR-31). He stated that

he did not believe that any of the other exhibits had been previously shown to him (TR-32) and particularly Exhibit B-5, which purportedly was the second photograph he had referred to at the market as being similar to the person cashing the money order.

The State then called Warner Bruestle of the Ogden City Police Department (TR-35). He stated that he had checked the address of Mrs. Richards at 323 4th Avenue in Ogden and that there is no such address (TR-36). He testified that at 629 Morlin Drive in Salt Lake City, the purported address of Harold L. Larsen, who endorsed the money order, a Mrs. Ruby Smith had been living for many years (TR-37). The address on the money order is Marlin Drive. He also had checked at the Department of Public Safety Driver's License Division and stated that they could find no license issued to Gerald L. Larson (TR-37).

The witness then testified that in early February, 1963, the Salt Lake City Police De-

partment came to his office, as they were having the same "problem", and they had the "Mug" shots with them (Exhibits B-1 through B-8). These (TR-37) are the pictures, according to Bruestle, which were taken out to Mr. Bramwell (TR-38). Bruestle stated that Bramwell was positive on identification of Exhibit B-2 and thought that Exhibit B-4 looked like the man, although Bruestle had assured Bramwell each set of photographs were of the same individual. His knowledge was based solely on a conversation with the Salt Lake City Police Department (TR-39). On cross examination, the police officer described in fine detail the presentation of the "Mug" shots to Mr. Bramwell (TR-43). He stated that if Mr. Bramwell testified he had not seen the photographs before, he was wrong (TR-47). Again, on redirect examination, the State's attorney elicited in detail the manner in which the "Mug" shots were laid out at the market, and that the Ogden officer was proceeding on information from the Salt Lake Police

Department who were having the "same trouble", and stated "And in the course of their investigation, they suspected Mr. Owens of being one of the men they were involved with" (TR-36).

Upon objection of defendant at this point, the court admonished the jury to disregard the answer as to the Salt Lake City Police Department.

The State rested, and motion of defendant for dismissal on the grounds of insufficient evidence to go to the jury was denied (TR-53).

The defendant called Mr. James A. Grow (TR-55) of the Ogden City Police Department, who checked defendant in at the Ogden jail.

He described the defendant as weighing 140 pounds, and being 5' 11" (TR-56), and introduced a photograph of the defendant at the jail which was identified as Exhibit D. The

witness testified that the defendant was

wearing a white shirt and a pair of slacks

(TR-57). The defense also called Mr. Eugene

Elmer Mahnke (TR-57) who was the 17-year-old

clerk standing at the market cash register when the money order first was presented (TR-58).

This witness could not remember the weight, height, hair color, or any other detail of the individual cashing the money order, and stated he had no reason to believe that the defendant, sitting in the courtroom, was the same individual (TR-60). The defendant did not take the stand.

The complaint was filed in Ogden City Court on March 27, 1963, and the preliminary hearing was held on April 10, 1963. An information was then filed on April 18, 1963, and the case tried by jury on May 2, 1963 (R-7). There was a 'hung jury', and the case retried on July 9, 1963. The jury found the defendant guilty of forgery as charged in the information, and the court sentenced defendant to the Utah State Prison for not less than one nor more than 20 years.

point 1. IT WAS PREJUDICIAL ERROR OF THE DISTRICT COURT TO ALLOW IN EVIDENCE THROUGHOUT THE COURSE OF TRIAL REPEATED REFERENCES TO CLAIMED ASSOCIATION OF DEFENDANT WITH OTHER ALLEGED CRIMINALS, AND THE VIEWS OF POLICE OFFICERS AS TO HIS GUILT.

In his opening statement, the defendant's attorney declared there would be no dispute as to the commission of the crime, as the defendant had no knowledge of the matter since he was not the individual who presented the money order to the market. So far as the defendant was concerned, the sole issue was then the question of identity. This position was emphasized by defense counsel during trial, when he made certain stipulations of fact relating to the forged money orders and other related matters (TR-52). The position was again repeated during closing argument of defense counsel. Here the question of identity assumed more than ordinary significance, because it became the sole disputed issue.

One of the first questions asked of Bramwell by State's counsel was whether he could identify

the defendant who was sitting in the courtroom as the individual who cashed the money order. At that point he did so, and so far as direct testimony was concerned, this should have ended the matter. Notwithstanding, the State's attorney thereafter embarked upon a consideration of the so-called "Mug" shots which can only carry the implication that these are a series of criminals and included among them is the defendant. There is no justification or need for this. As a result, defense counsel had no alternative except to thoroughly explore these matters on cross-examination of the witness. When Officer Bruestle of the Ogden Police Department took the stand, he related in considerable and unnecessary detail the presentation of the "Mug" shots to Bramwell at the market several days after the alleged forgery. He also testified he received the shots from the Salt Lake City Police Department who were, as he said, having the same difficulty. There can be no question that this testimony im-

planted in the minds of the jury the association of the defendant with known criminals, and the fact that in the minds of the Salt Lake City Police officers who were investigating the stolen money orders from the Harmon Pharmacy, this man was a prime suspect. Typical of the testimony is that appearing on page 37 of the transcript:

"Q. Did you know at the time you exhibited these photos to Mr. Bramwell the identity of the suspect?

A. I didn't know the true identity, no. All I was going by was on the information from the Salt Lake Police Department. Like I stated, they were having the same trouble, and in their investigation they suspected Mr. Owens of being one of the men involved."

Upon objection of defense counsel to this statement, the court admonished the jury (TR-46) to disregard the testimony as to the Salt Lake Police Department. The admonishment was limited, and did not reach testimony of this type which had appeared throughout the record, and as to which there was no need nor purpose to be served by the State's attorney in its introduction. As

a practical matter, the attempt in some regards produced confusion, but it could not erase from the minds of the jury the force of repeated reference to these matters. There was little a defense counsel could do in these circumstances, and he was compelled to rely upon the action of the court in limiting such testimony. To indulge in a series of objections would simply emphasize the harmful and serious nature of this testimony.

The District Attorney was not, however, content to leave it at this. In closing argument (TR-66), despite the admonition, he again covers in detail the "Mug" shots and how this defendant was picked out from a number of known or suspected criminals. He points out that the defendant is not on trial for burglary or for anything which Salt Lake City may have against him (TR-63), and in the context of his remarks emphasizes these matters. In rebuttal, the argument continues at TR-74:

"What does Mr. Bramwell have to gain, psychologically, by taking this man and the

eight pictures that were presented to him and pillorying him before you? What does he have to gain? You are the judge of that."

The prosecuting attorney has thus needlessly and with obvious intent to prejudice the jury established the association of the defendant with other criminals, and the suspicions of the Salt Lake City Police Department that defendant is the man here involved. This practice has been condemned by substantial authority. Thus, 22 C.J.S. 417, Section 609 reads as follows:

"Generally, it may be relevant to show that accused at the time of the commission of the crime was associated with criminals banded together for, and engaged in, the commission of similar crimes. On the other hand, it has been held not proper to show that after the offense in question accused and other persons formed a combination to commit similar crimes, that he lived in a locality inhabited by criminals, that he was acquainted with criminals, that he was intimate with suspicious or guilty persons, or that on the night of the crime he was in the company of the criminal." (Underlining supplied)

It is obvious that the association of criminals banded together in commission of similar

crimes is not here involved. It is also clear that the repeated reference to matters implying defendant is a criminal and acquainted or associated or connected with other criminals is the vice of the State's evidence.

There appear no factually related Utah cases. Similar circumstances have, however, arisen in other States. Thus, in State vs. Whitney, 254 Pac 525 (Ida. 1927), the court held that in a prosecution for obtaining money by false pretenses, the admission in evidence of a circular containing defendant's photograph and description, with the request that the peace officers keep a lookout and arrest him if found, was held erroneous, and served no purpose other than to inflame the minds of the jury and prejudice them against the defendant. Again, in People vs. Frank, 236 Pac. 139 (Calif. 1925), the court held that presentation of evidence showing that on three different occasions the defendant had gone under an assumed name was held prejudicial error. These cases

condemn the admission of evidence of the general type here involved. In State vs. Winget 6 Utah 2nd 243, 310 Pac, 2nd 733 (1957), the court reviewed numerous Utah decisions as well as those from other states on the question of the admissibility of other criminal acts to prove the commission of the crime charged. As here pertinent, the court stated, P. 739:

"However, evidence that a person committed a crime on one occasion is inadmissible to prove his disposition, bad character, or propensity to commit crime as the basis for an inference that he committed the crime for which he is on trial."

See State vs. Neal, 262 Pac. 2nd 757, 758 (Ut. 1953).

These cases deal with the commission of prior crimes. There is, however, a direct analogy between the commission of a crime and association with criminals and the belief of the police departments that, as a conclusion, the defendant was a criminal suspect who likely was guilty, based upon his past record and associations. It

must be noted that the defendant in these proceedings did not take the witness stand, and there is no question raised as to an attack on his creditability.

Is this evidence, which is based upon criminal association and the suspicions, if not the beliefs, of the various police departments, prejudicial error, or does it involve matters going only to the weight of the evidence? There is room for doubt as to the identity of the defendant if all of the evidence is considered. This is indicated by the failure to convict on the prior trial upon evidence which would appear to be somewhat similar to that here presented. Bramwell describes the weight of the person who cashed the money order as being 170 pounds, and asserts he is wearing slacks and a sport coat. When the witness was taken to the Ogden city jail (TR-55) he weighed 140 pounds. This is a substantial variance in individuals, particularly where Mr. Bramwell contends that he saw the witness for

several minutes at a distance of a few feet. Other aspects of the evidence on identification have been considered in the above Statement of Facts. Considered as individual matters, here and there throughout the record, it may be said to go to the weight of the evidence, and thus within the province of the jury. The prejudice lies in the collective impact of these matters on the minds of the jury, and the admission of this evidence constitutes prejudicial error.

Point 2. IT WAS PREJUDICIAL ERROR OF THE DISTRICT C COURT TO FAIL TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT IT SHOULD DISREGARD TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE OF CLAIMED ASSOCIATION OF DEFENDANT WITH OTHER ALLEGED CRIMINALS AND THE VIEWS OF POLICE OFFICERS AS TO HIS GUILT.

This point is closely related to Point 1, and the above argument is also applicable here.

The court, during the course of the State's case, on one occasion did admonish the jury (TR-46) to ignore the statement of the Ogden officer that the Salt Lake City Police Department suspected Mr. Owens of being one of the men in-

olved in the theft of the money orders from the
pharmacy. However, nowhere in the instructions
to the jury is there any attempt to deal with the
references to association of defendant with other
criminals and the fact that the defendant is sus-
pected of being the person involved in this crime
by the Salt Lake City police. The court should
have instructed the jury to disregard this evi-
dence as it related to the question of identity,
which was the issue involved so far as this de-
fendant was concerned. It should have so in-
structed irrespective of request, as the instruc-
tions must be upon all of the law of the case.

CONCLUSION

It is submitted that the verdict of guilty
must be set aside, and the case remanded for a
new trial.