1963

State of Utah v. Frank Jerry Owens : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

The appellant appeals from a conviction for the crime of forgery in violation of 76-26-1, U.C.A. 1953, upon jury trial in the Second Judicial District Court, Weber County, Utah.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On July 9, 1963, the appellant was tried and convicted of forgery, in violation of 76-26-1, U.C.A. 1953, by uttering and passing a forged money order. The case was tried by a jury which returned a verdict of guilty, and the trial court committed the appellant to the State Prison for the indeterminate period provided by law.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The respondent submits that the trial court's judgment should be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The respondent will accept the appellant's statement of facts, except to the extent that they may appear differently or be added to in the argument portion of this brief.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT RECEIVE ANY EVIDENCE TENDING TO SHOW ANY ASSOCIATION OF THE DEFENDANT WITH ANY OTHER CRIMINALS; FURTHER, APPELLANT HAS NO BASIS TO CLAIM ANY ERROR RELATING TO THE IDENTITY OF THE APPELLANT BY WITNESSES FROM PHOTOGRAPHS.

The appellant contends in Point I of his brief that the jury had before it evidence of the accused's association with other known criminals. No testimony of any kind was received by the jury which in any way indicated that the appellant associated with criminals prior to or during the time of the commission of the offense. Consequently, the appellant's assertion is not quite correct.

A reading of the appellant's brief results in the conclusion that the appellant is in fact complaining that the trial jury received evidence of a pre-trial identification of the appellant as the person who uttered Exhibit A, the forged money order. The identification of the appellant as the culprit was made by Kenneth Bramwell, the operator of Bramwell's Market in Ogden, Utah, from "mug" photographs of the appellant and other persons (R. 11). The photographs were presented to Mr. Bramwell by Officer Warner Bruestle of the Ogden City Police Department prior to trial, in an effort to have Mr. Bramwell identify the person who gave him the forged money order (R. 38). Mr. Bramwell identified the appellant from the photo-

graphs presented (R. 11) and the trial court heard the testimony of Mr. Bramwell to the effect that he made a previous identification of the appellant from the photographs (R. 11, 38).

Subsequently, Mr. Bramwell was cross-examined intensively by defense counsel concerning the identification of the appellant as being the individual responsible for passing the forged money order.

At the time of opening statements, counsel for the appellant indicated that he would rely for a defense on the contention that the appellant was not the individual who had committed the crime, and had been improperly identified by the victims. Defense counsel endeavored to show that the prior identification of the appellant as the culprit by Mr. Bramwell from the photographs given him by the Ogden Police, was a confused and inaccurate identification. No objection at anytime was raised by the appellant to the use of the photographs nor to their admission (R. 40).

It is submitted that whatever claim of error the appellant might have had to the use of the photographs at trial has not been preserved on appeal since the appellant took no objection. Abbott, Criminal Trial Practice, 4th Ed., Sec. 348, notes:

“It is a general rule that, in order to take advantage of the admission of evidence by the trial court as error and to secure a reversal of its judgment upon appeal, the evidence must be objected to in the trial court. Likewise where no objection is made to cross-examination, neither the propriety thereof, nor the competency of the testimony brought out thereby may be questioned on appeal.”

The appellant failed to make any objection to the receipt of any evidence relating to his identification from the mug shots, nor was any objection raised to receiving the pictures in evidence to allow the jury to see the nature of

the identification. Abbott, Criminal Trial Practice, Sec. 350, notes:

“The proper time to object to the introduction of evidence is when it becomes apparent that error will be committed by receiving evidence which is not admissible, as when the evidence is offered * * *.”

Section 351 also notes:

“Any objection to the admissibility of evidence is waived by failure to object thereto. If defendant fails to object to evidence when first offered, he waives its incompetency. * * *”

Further, it should be noted that no effort was ever made by the appellant to have the evidence stricken or to have the jury instructed as to its limited use. As a consequence, it is submitted that since the appellant made no effort to void the error he now seeks to take advantage of on appeal, he may not, therefore, claim prejudice.

Secondly, it is submitted that the receipt of the evidence was proper. Wigmore, Evidence, 3rd Ed., Sec. 1130, notes:

“Ordinarily, when a witness is asked to identify the assailant, or thief, or other person who is the subject of his testimony, the witness’ act of pointing out the accused (or other person) then and there in the court-room, is of little testimonial force. After all that has intervened, it would seldom happen that the witness would not have come to believe in the person’s identity. The failure to recognize would tell for the accused; but the affirmative recognition might mean little against him.

The psychology of the situation is practically the same as when Recent Contrivance is alleged. To corroborate the witness, therefore, it is entirely proper (on the principle of § 1129, ante) to prove that at a former time, when the suggestions of others could not have intervened to create a fancied recognition in the witness’ mind, he recognized and declared the present accused to be the person. * * *”

Although it must be admitted that there are jurisdictions which have ruled to the contrary, it would appear

that the majority of courts have allowed the use of such evidence. In 22A, C.J.S., Criminal Law, Sec. 725, p. 1011, it is stated:

"Other decisions, however, broadly hold that evidence of extrajudicial identification is admissible, as an exception to the hearsay rule, and that a witness may testify as to another person's identification of a person, thing, or place. So, it has been held that testimony as to the mere fact that another person identified, described, or pointed out something is not inadmissible as hearsay; and a witness may testify to another's description of a person or place for the mere purpose of explaining action taken in connection therewith. Also, a witness may testify to a statement made to a person resulting in his failure to make an identification."

In *People v. Slobodion*, 31 Cal. 2d 555, 191 P.2d 1 (1948), the California Supreme Court had occasion to consider whether or not evidence of a previous identification of the accused as the culprit could be received in evidence to bolster a subsequent identification at trial. Mr. Justice Traynor commented:

"Defendant contends that the admission of evidence pertaining to certain nonjudicial identification of defendant was erroneous. The prosecutrix testified that she identified defendant in a police lineup, and a police officer testified that he was present when the prosecutrix made the identification. Here again, defendant made no objection to the introduction of the testimony of which he now complains, but even if he had this evidence of previous nonjudicial identification would have been admissible.

'Ordinarily when a witness is asked to identify the assailant, or thief, or other person who is the subject of his testimony, the witness' act of pointing out the accused (or other person), then and there in the courtroom, is of little testimonial force. After all that has intervened, it would seldom happen that the witness would not have come to believe in the person's identity. The failure to recognize would tell for the accused; but the affirmative recognition might mean little against him.

The psychology of the situation is practically the same as when Recent Contrivance is alleged. To corroborate the witness, therefore, it is entirely proper * * * to prove that at a former time, when the suggestions of others could not have intervened to create a

fancied recognition in the witness' mind, he recognized and declared the present accused to be the person. If, moreover (as sometimes is done) the person was then so placed among others that all probability of suggestion (by seeing him hand-cuffed, for example) is still further removed, the evidence becomes stronger. The typical illustration is that of the identification of an accused person at the time of arrest. * * * ' IV Wigmore on Evidence, 3d Ed., p. 208.

The foregoing rule stated by Wigmore is not accepted in all jurisdictions, but the weight of recent authority is in accord with his views. * * *

In a case very similar to the instant one, *People v. Ford*, 345 P.2d 573 (Cal. 1959), a protest was made that the jury was allowed to receive evidence of a previous identification of the accused by a witness from "mug" shots. The court commented on this objection and found it unmeritorious, stating:

"Authorities bearing directly on this point involve for the most part identification prior to court appearance by way of police show-up or of his person at a place other than the police station. Appellant's real objection seems to be the manner in which the prior identification was proved, by the introduction into evidence of the 'mug' photograph, which he claims imputed to him a prior criminal record. Generally, if evidence be material and relevant to an issue in a criminal trial, even though it tends to be prejudicial, it is nevertheless admissible when its probative value outweighs the possible prejudicial effect (*People v. Cheary*, 48 Cal. 2d 301, 309 P.2d 431) ; and a determination thereof lies within the sound discretion of the trial court * * *."

In *People v. Aquirre*, 332 P.2d 478 (Cal. 1958), the court, citing the *Slobodian* case, supra, affirmed the use of prior identification from pictures and a lineup.

Most recently, in *People v. Gould*, 7 Cal. Rptr. 273, 354 P.2d 865 (1960), the California Supreme Court again considered the question of the admissibility of an extrajudicial identification of the accused by a witness. The identifica-

tion by the witness was made from a photograph. Mr. Justice Traynor, again speaking for the court, stated:

“Evidence of an extra-judicial identification is admissible, not only to corroborate an identification made at the trial (*People v. Slobodion*, 31 Cal. 2d 555, 560, 191 P.2d 1), but as independent evidence of identity. Unlike other testimony that cannot be corroborated by proof of prior consistent statements unless it is first impeached (*People v. Hardenbrook*, 48 Cal. 2d 345, 351, 309 P.2d 424; *People v. Kynette*, 15 Cal. 2d 731, 753–754, 104 P.2d 794), evidence of an extra-judicial identification is admitted regardless of whether the testimonial identification is impeached, because the earlier identification has greater probative value than an identification made in the courtroom after the suggestions of others and the circumstances of the trial may have intervened to create a fancied recognition in the witness’ mind. *People v. Slobodion*, 31 Cal. 2d 555, 559–560, 191 P.2d 1; *United States v. Forzano*, 2 Cir., 190 F.2d 687, 689; see *People v. Hood*, 140 Cal. App. 2d 585, 588, 295 P.2d 525; *People v. Bennett*, 119 Cal. App. 2d 224, 226, 259 P.2d 476; 4 Wigmore, *Evidence* (3d ed. 1940) § 1130, p. 208. The failure of the witness to repeat the extra-judicial identification in court does not destroy its probative value, for such failure may be explained by loss of memory or other circumstances. The extra-judicial identification tends to connect the defendant with the crime, and the principal danger of admitting hearsay evidence is not present since the witness is available at the trial for cross-examination. See *Judy v. State*, 218 Md. 168, 174–175, 146 A.2d 29, 32–33; McCormick, *Evidence* § 39, p. 74; Morgan, *Hearsay Dangers*, 62 Harv. L. Rev. 177, 192–193; 3 Wigmore, *Evidence* (3d ed. 1940) § 1018, pp. 687–688. See also *State v. Wilson*, 38 Wash. 2d 593, 617–618, 231 P.2d 288, 300–301; *People v. Spinello*, 303 N.Y. 193, 201–202, 101 N.E.2d 457, 460–461.”

Numerous other decisions appear to have followed these cases. *Judy v. State*, 218 Md. 168, 146 A.2d 29; *Basoff v. State*, 208 Md. 643, 119 A.2d 917; *State v. McSloy*, 127 Mont. 265, 261 P.2d 663; *State v. Moon*, 20 Ida. 202, 117 Pac. 757; *State v. Wilson*, 38 Wash. 2d 593, 231 P.2d 288; *Williams v. State*, 372 P.2d 462 (Nev. 1962).

It should be noted that the objection raised by the appellant for the first time on appeal is not accurately directed

to this point. Consequently, since numerous decisions from other courts have allowed the introduction of such evidence, it can hardly be said that a basis for reversible error exists. Further, it should be noted that the picture contained in Exhibits B, 1 through 8, by which the appellant was identified, does not have any police identification number on the picture, nor indicate that it was taken in connection with criminal circumstances.

The appellant himself introduced into evidence Exhibit D for the purposes of attacking the previous identification. That photograph, introduced by the appellant, does contain attendant nomenclature connecting the appellant with a criminal investigation. Since this was introduced by the appellant, he is hardly in a position to claim error from some other less prejudicial action of the prosecution.

The appellant argues that the identification of the appellant by a mug shot and the receipt of other pictures of individuals not identified, but possibly the subject of inquiry because of criminal activities, is raised to the level of prejudice by the fact that on cross-examination of the Ogden City Police Officer, Mr. Bruestle, he indicated that the accused was being investigated for other matters.

It should be noted, first, that the trial court sustained an objection to the evidence and strictly admonished the jury to disregard the same. This court cannot presume that the jury did not follow the admonition. In *People v. Gould*, supra, the court noted:

“ * * * It must be assumed that ordinarily admonitions to the jury are heeded. *People v. Foote*, 48 Cal. 2d 20, 23, 306 P.2d 803; *People v. Tarantino*, 45 Cal. 2d 590, 597–598, 290 P.2d 505; *People v. Dabb*, 32 Cal. 2d 491, 499, 197 P.2d 1. A trial court’s decision that an error or impropriety can be cured by admonition will not be reversed unless exceptional circumstances make it improbable that the jury obeyed the admonition. * * * ”

See also *State v. Moore*, 111 Utah 458, 183 P.2d 973; *State v. Kelsey*, 283 P.2d 982 (Wash.) ; *State v. Bolds*, 55 N.W.2d 534 (Iowa).

Secondly, it should be noted that the answer was a reasonable response to a question elicited by the appellant on cross-examination. In *State v. Myers*, 385 P.2d 609 (Utah 1963), the appellant contended that he was prejudiced by a similar response of a police officer made to a question asked of the officer by counsel during cross-examination. This court refused to find prejudice, and stated:

“Inasmuch as it was his own attorney who asked the questions which brought forth the answers on cross-examination, he is in no position to complain of them.”

There is no merit to the appellant's contention on this point. There is no evidence of record which would tend to indicate that the pictures used to assist in the identification of the appellant were brought to the attention of the jury in such a way as would lead the jury to believe that the appellant was intimately associated with persons of questionable repute. The question of prior identification was important to the prosecution as the issue of identification was the sole issue in the trial. Since such evidence is normally admissible, it can hardly be said that the appellant was prejudiced by the receipt of the evidence where there was no substantial indication which could lead the jury to believe that the photographs of the other persons, also displayed to Mr. Bramwell, were associates of the accused. This is obvious from the fact that no objection of any kind was made in the trial court.

POINT II.

THE APPELLANT CANNOT CLAIM ERROR BECAUSE OF ANY FAILURE OF THE TRIAL COURT TO INSTRUCT THE JURY TO DISREGARD ANY INFERENTIAL ASSOCIATION OF THE APPELLANT WITH OTHER ALLEGED CRIMINALS.

The appellant's contention that the trial court created some prejudice by failing to instruct the jury to disregard any inference of association of the accused with other criminals is without merit. No request for any such instruction was made. The trial court expressly asked counsel for both the State and the appellant whether they had any additional requests for instruction (R. 54). Both the State and the appellant indicated that they had no additional requested instructions. Since the appellant requested no additional instructions, he is in no position to claim error from the failure of the trial court to give an instruction.

In *State v. Rowley*, 386 P.2d 126 (Utah 1963), this court stated:

“ * * * No instruction was tendered by appellants in reference to a polygraph test and no exception was taken on the failure to give such an instruction. The general rule is that unless the party requests an instruction on a special matter, he cannot predicate error upon the court's failure to charge. We see no reason to deviate from this rule and so adhere in rejecting appellants' second contention.”

In *State v. Miller*, 111 Utah 255, 177 P.2d 727 (1947), this court was presented with a claim that the trial court committed error for failing to instruct on the limited purpose of the use of the defendant's confession. No request for such an instruction had been made. The court noted:

“This requirement that the court instruct ‘upon the law applicable to the case’ does not place upon the court alone the burden of making up instructions which cover every question which may have arisen in the case.

The general rule is that unless the party requests an instruction on a special matter he cannot predicate error upon the court's failure to charge. * * * The tenor of the cases we have considered, and here cite, support our holding that this case cannot be returned for a new trial because of the court's failure to give a proper instruction limiting the use of Miller's confession when no such instruction was requested. * * *

This has long been the rule of law in this jurisdiction. *State v. Anderson*, 108 Utah 130, 158 P.2d 127; *People v. Robinson*, 6 Utah 101, 21 Pac. 403; *State v. Woodall*, 6 U.2d 8, 305 P.2d 473; *State v. Peterson*, 121 Utah 229, 240 P.2d 504.

Additionally, where no exception was taken to failure to instruct on the effect of such evidence, no error can be claimed. *State v. Ferguson*, 83 Utah 357, 28 P.2d 175 (1934); Abbott, Criminal Trial Practice, 4th Ed., Sec. 672.

Consequently, appellant Owens is without a meritorious claim on this point.

CONCLUSION

An analysis of the contentions of the appellant, when viewed against the record of the case, indicate that he has no basis upon which to claim a new trial. The evidence of his guilt is compelling and the appellant made no effort to exclude the evidence now claimed to be objectionable. The primary issue in the case was the identification of the appellant and it, therefore, became directly material to receive the evidence of previous identification. The fact that pictures of other individuals who may have some criminal involvement were given to the jury could hardly be deemed prejudicial where there was no showing that these persons were in anyway associated with or connected with

the appellant other than to provide a diversity of faces from which to test the victim's identification of the culprit.

There is no merit to this appeal. The court should affirm.